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This is the story of two Manor House’s and their families whose story begins with the records held in the pages of the Domesday 

Book of 1085. Both still exist today, although in a much reduced and altered shape. The first of these is Berne Manor, which can

be found at the end of a track off the bottom of Berne Lane, which forks off the A35 towards Bridport. The site today is occupied 

by a farmhouse, which was built on the original site after the earlier building was partly destroyed by lightning in 1926. The 

second is Abbots Wootton Manor, which occupies a mid way site on the road linking Wootton Fitzpaine and Whitchurch 

Canonicorum. Again, the earlier building has gone  and replaced by Lower Wootton Farmhouse which was built in 1858 in a 

similar style. They were linked in a number of ways over the centuries. The main one being that their owners would worship at 

the ancient church in Whitchurch Canonicorum, which still has a number of fine memorials and tombs relating to them. Although 

both Manors were owned by many important families over their long history. Each were associated with specific families. In the 

case of Abbots Wootton it was Alexander Every who bought it in 1585 and was finally sold in 1768 by a descendant to Joseph, 

Lord Milton. It was Anthony Floyer who similarly bought Berne Manor in 1616 and it again stayed with the family until being sold 

in 1799 to Richard Knight.

The link between the two Manors goes back to a decision made by Sir Robert Spencer to sell the freehold of Berne Manor, 

which he has inherited from his mother, Mary Catlyn, to Sir George Somers for £600 in 1598 . He retained the Manorial rights 

which his son, Sir John Spencer later sold to Anthony Flower in 1616 who had just bought Abbots Wootton Manor. As a result, 

the title of Lord of the Manor of Berne and its benefits would be forever separated. Both the Every and Floyer family would 

flourish and in time would move away. They would still retain their Manors and lease them to tenants until their eventual sale.

The story of the two Manors is also that of their Estates, whose lands and tenants have been well recorded over the centuries. 

Abbots Wootton consisted of ever 4,000 acres of land which remained as a whole until it was split up and auctioned in 1809. 

Berne Manor was just 200 acres, although there was an additional 100 acres known as Norchard in the neighbouring Stanton 

St. Gabriel that seems to have always formed part of it. Both families had other properties and would have been the two most 

important in Whitchurch Canonicorum. This is clearly shown in the Hearth Tax returns of 1664. These show Martha, the widow of 

William Every living at Abbotts Wootton Manor with 7 hearths and Anthony Floyer of Berne Manor also with 7 hearths. We are 

fortunate that a print of Abbots Wootton was commissioned by Lord Milton in 1764 after his purchase and appeared soon after in 

Hutchins History of Dorset. No doubt both houses were of similar Tudor styles. Although no early image has been found of Berne 

Manor, a later photo of 1904, before the fire shows it with a Georgian front, which would have been commissioned by Richard 

Knight after his purchase in 1799. A photograph of the rear is more revealing of the earlier Tudor building with its mullioned 

windows. Both manors provide fascinating stories of their owners over a 1000 years, which I have separated into two respective 

parts. The first covering Berne Manor and the second that of Abbots Wootton Manor.

Berne originally formed a hamlet in the larger hundred of Whitchurch Canonicorum. Hutchin`s history of Dorset first published in 

1764 provides a brief history of it. He writes that in 1347, Galfide de Atte Berne held on eighth fee here in Whitchurch hundred. In 

1461 that William Bonvil held it and ten years later his wife, Lady Harrington died seized of it. In 1485 it came into the hands of 

King Ruchard III on the attainder of Thomas, Marquis of Dorset for high treason. In 1568 the Manor of Berne and Morcombelake 

together with Norchard in Stanton St. Gabriel were granted to Robert Catlin, sergeant at law and his wife Anne for £760 with a 
value of £30 a year. He died seized of it in 1577. By 1583, Mary, wife of John Spencer and heir of Robert Catlin held the Manor. 
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In 1601 Mary, late wife of Sur John Spencer sold Berne and Morcombelake to Sir Robert Spencer of Oldthrop in Northamptonshire. This 

information provided a framework to gather more information about the Manor.

There is no specific reference to Berne Manor in the Domesday Book. It would have come under the hundred of Whitchurch Caninicorum. 

There is a gap until the 13th century when Walter de La Berne is shown as a witness on a number of documents. The Cartulary now held at 

Forde Abbey records his name a number of times between 1240 and 1286. It was in the latter year that his son granted land in Charmouth to 

the Abbot of Forde. again in 1297 there is confirmation of the 80 acres to the Abbey. When in 1295 Charmouth is designated a Borough by 

the Abbot, it is William de La Berne who is a witness to the document. In 1318 amongst the deeds to Bridport held in the Dorset Record 

Office is one that refers to a tenement with curtilage called La Berne (DC-BTB/S/68. It is Geoffrey De La Berne who in 1337 and 1364 

appears as witness to some of the Forde Abbey Deeds. In 1371 Robert de La Berne is in a dispute with his neighbour, Sir John de Chideock 

over some lands.

We have to turn to Hutchins History of Dorset to continue the story of the descent of Berne Manor. In 1442 it comes into the ownership of 

William Bonville, who at that time is living in nearby Shute Manor, near Axminster. In 1472, his wife, Elizabeth Lady Harrington dies, seized 

of it. In 1485 the Manor comes into the Kings hands on the attainder of Thomas Marquis of Dorset for High Treason.

In 1559, this Manor of Berne and Morcombelake, possessions of Henry Duke of Suffolk together with lands in Norchard, the site of the 

Manor and Lands of Marshwood Vale, 7 closes called Case Mills were granted to Robert Caitlin, sergeant at law and Anne his wife and their 

heirs for 31 years purchased for £760. He died seized of it in 1577. His daughter, Mary who was the wife of John Spencer held the Premises 

in 1583.

In 1587 George Somers paid £600 for Berne Manor and 200 acres of land as well as Norchard at nearby Stanton St. Gabriel’s with 100 

acres. In 1610 he dies aged 60 in Bermuda and is buried at Whitchurch. He leaves his estate to hi wife and nephew, Matthew Somers. They 

sell it to Anthony Floyer in 1616 whose family live nearby at Stanton St. Gabriel

In the Chancery Suit Henley v. Templeman,' dated 1760, the plaintiff states that the manors of Berne and Morecombe had been 

successively in possession of John Henley of Abbots Wootton, Esq. who died in 1732,, and of Robert Henley of Abbots Wootton (brother of 

the said John), who died without issue in 1758.Robert Henley's debts exceeded the value of his personalty and much of his real estate was 

mortgaged. The manors were entailed on John's sons Robert, Peter, and Phocion. Hutchins describes how the manors passed to the 

Spencers. When, in I587, Sir John Spencer leased the farm of Berne to George (afterwards Sir George) Somers no copyholds were included 

in the conveyance, the deed describing the land as late in tenure of John Hodder, and when in 1598,Spencer sold the fee simple of the farm 

to Somers, the former retained the manorial rights.  The Spencers held the manors in 1602 and 1604 (see Recoveries), but later, as has 

been stated, they passed to the Everys.

On the death of John Every in I679 the manors of Berne and Morcombelake became the property of his sister and coheiress Barbara, wife of 

Sir Robert Henley of the Grange,Hants, and descended to her sons, the above-mentioned John and Robert.  

By deed (enrolled in Common Pleas), dated 28 June, 36 Henry VIII |I544 Henry Marquess of Dorset sold to William Gray of London, 

gentleman, for 518. 3s. 4d. " all that his manor or lordship of Barne otherwise called Berne with the appurtenances in Berne in the County of 

Dorsett," and all other hereditaments in the said parish of Berne or elsewhere in Dorset, reputed to be parcel of the manor. The Marquess 

guarantees the manor and lands to be of the clear yearly value of £25. 18s. 2d., over and above all reprises.

In the Chancery Suit Every v. Putt,' dated 1663, it is deposed that William Every of Cothay, Somerset, Esq., had died seized of the manors of 

Barne or Berne and Morcamlake. William Every's will was proved in 1651.



Hutchins History of Dorset (1863 Edition) The history of Berne Manor.



Anciently a manor, and member of Whitchurch Canonicorum.

1346. Galfride de Atte Berne held one-eighth of a fee here in 

Whitchurch hundred.

1460. William Bonville held it. 

1472. Elizabeth Lady Harrington, wife of William Bonville,

died seized of it.

1485. this manor came into the King's hands, on the 

attainder of Thomas Marquis of Dorset for high treason. 

15 July 1559, this manor of Barne, alias Berne, and 

Morcombelake, parcel of the possessions of Henry Duke of 

Suffolk attainted, together with lands in Orchard, with free 

warren on all the said manors and lands, and all royalties; the 

site of the manor and demesne lands of Marshwood Vale ; 

seven closes called Case Mills, containing 80 a. parcel of the 

same, were granted to Robert Catlin, serjeant-at-law, and 

Anne his wife, and their heirs, for 31 years, purchased for 

£760. 8s. 4d. value £30. 8s. 4d. He died seized of it in 1577. 

1583. Mary, wife of John Spencer, sole heir of Robert 

Catlyn, knt. held the premises mentioned in the grant

20 Oct.1601 licence was granted to Edward Glascothe of 

Gray's Inn, Middlesex, esq. and Dame Mary his wife, late wife 

of Sir John Spencer, knt. to sell to Sir Robert Spencer, knt. of 

Oldthrop, co. Northampton, all those manors of Berne, alias 

Barne, and Morcomblake, with all their appurtenances as 

described above, held of the Queen in capite, with free 

warren, and all franchises and emoluments. 

In Mr. Coker's time the mansion house of Berne was late the 

dwelling of Sir George Summers, who was probably born 

here, or at Lyme, and was a famous seaman. He commanded 

in several naval expeditions in l595, 1600, 1601, 1602, and

was  knighted in 1604, being then 

styled of Boxolm. In the latter part of this year, and the 

beginning of 1605, he served the office of mayor of Lyme 

Regis, which circumstance de-notes that he was then an 

inhabitant, if not a native, of that place, as at that period the 

whole corporate body, in compliance with the charter of 

Queen Elizabeth, a. r. 33, consisted entirely of residents. In 

1606, the King granted a patent to him, Thomas Hannam, 

esq. &o. to send a colony, and make a plantation at Virginia. 

In 1609, Summers, with Sir Thomas Gates and Captain 

New-port, were appointed deputy governors of Virginia by 

Lord Delawarr, the governor. wrecked at the Bermudas or 

Summers Islands, first discovered 1591, and then 

uninhabited. They took possession of them for the crown of 

England,and these islands had their name from him at his 

return home. Virginia, and sent back by Lord Delawarr to 

Bermudas, where he died the same year, aged 60. His body 

was brought over, and interred at Whitchurch His arms 

were, Vert, a fesse dancette ermine. They were In 1610 he 

was made Admiral of His arms were, Vert, a fesse dancette 

In 1831 this farm was purchased of the executors of 

Richard Knight, esq. by the Rev. Thomas Hodges of. 

Charmouth, who afterwards settled it, together with another 

estate in Stanton St. Gabriel's called Norchard, on his only 

surviving child Elizabeth, on her marriage with the late 

Rev. Thomas Bennett Edwards, vicar of St. Stephen’s by 

Saltash, Cornwall. 

The farm of Berne belonged to the Floyers of Devon for 

several descents, some of whom resided here, and had their 

place of burial in the south aisle of the parish church. to the 

Rev. William Floyer, vicar of Stinsford. . It afterwards came 

to Rev. William Floyer, Vicar of Stinsford. 

Hutchins History of  Dorset - Berne Manor in Dorset



A History of Berne Manor in Dorset



There is no specific reference to Berne Manor in the Domesday Book. It would have come under the hundred of Whitchurch 
Caninicorum. There is a gap until the 13th century when Walter de La Berne is shown as a witness on a number of documents. 
The Cartulary now held at Forde Abbey records his name a number of times between 1240 and 1286. It was in the latter year 
that his son granted land in Charmouth to the Abbot of Forde. again in 1297 there is confirmation of the 80 acres to the Abbey. 
When in 1295 Charmouth is designated a Borough by the Abbot, it is William de La Berne who is a witness to the document. In 
1318 amongst the deeds to Bridport held in the Dorset Record Office is one that refers to a tenement with curtilage called La 
Berne (DC-BTB/S/68. It is Geoffrey De La Berne who in 1337 and 1364 appears as witness to some of the Forde Abbey Deeds. 
In 1371 Robert de La Berne is in a dispute with his neighbour, Sir John de Chideock over some lands.
We have to turn to Hutchins History of Dorset to continue the story of the descent of Berne Manor. In 1442 it comes into the 
ownership of William Bonville, who at that time is living in nearby Shute Manor, near Axminster. In 1472, his wife, Elizabeth 
Lady Harrington dies, seized of it. In 1485 the Manor comes into the Kings hands on the attainder of Thomas Marquis of Dorset 
for High Treason.
In 1559, this Manor of Berne and Morcombelake, possessions of Henry Duke of Suffolk together with lands in Norchard, the 
site of the Manor and Lands of Marshwood Vale, 7 closes called Case Mills were granted to Robert Caitlin, sergeant at law and 
Anne his wife and their heirs for 31 years purchased for £760. He died seized of it in 1577. His daughter, Mary who was the wife 
of John Spencer held the Premises in 1583.
In 1587 George Somers paid £600 for Berne Manor and 200 acres of land as well as Norchard at nearby Stanton St. Gabriel’s 
with 100 acres. In 1610 he dies aged 60 in Bermuda and is buried at Whitchurch. He leaves his estate to hi wife and nephew, 
Matthew Somers. They sell it to Anthony Floyer in 1616 whose family live nearby at Stanton St. Gabriel

Introduction to the History of Berne Manor in Dorset

Report and Transactions of the Devonshire Association Floyer

Berne Fm :: Survey of English Place-Names

Berne Fm (SY 388944), Berne Farm 1769DCMMap , La Berne 1281 Ipm, 1340Ilch , 1376 FF, 
1422Ct , terr '…iuxta l ' Berne 1327 (15) Poul , Le Bernes 1431 FA, Berne 1462 Pat et passim , (manerium de ) Barne 1488 
Ipm, 1558Val , Barne alias Berne Hutch3, Bern 1795 Boswell, cf. also William atte Berne 1280 FF, 1318HarlCh , 
William de la Berna 13 (15) Forde , William de la Berene 1291 Pat, William de la Barne c.1300 (15) Poul , 
William de la Berne 1304AD , Geoffrey de la Barne 1327 SR, Geoffrey atte Berne 1332 SRet freq to 1364Weld 2, 
Geoffrey de (la ) Berne 1338HarlCh , 1340Ilch , 'the barn or storehouse for barley and other grain', from bere-ærn, with 
ME atte 'at the' in the surname forms.

https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/Report_and_Transactions_of_the_Devonshir/eUcPAQAAIAAJ?hl=en&gbpv=1&dq=john+Floyer+of+%22Upwey%22&pg=PA520&printsec=frontcover
https://epns.nottingham.ac.uk/browse/Dorset/Whitchurch+Canonicorum/53285299b47fc4099d0025f5-Berne+Fm


[f 30]

64Royal letters patent giving licence to the a. and c. of Forde for the appropriation in mortmain to them and their Successors for ever of 80 acres in 

Charmoth (Cernemue) given to them by William de la Berne, deceased, who held it of them. 11 September 1291 Dated : Amesbury (Ambresbury) 11 

September 19 Edward I.

55 D inus and confirmation by Geoffrey de Mandeville (Mandavilla), lord c. 1240  of the manor of Marshwood (Mershwode) and the hundred of 

Whitchurch (Whitchurche) of 53 and 54. witnesses: Ives de Rocheford, Adam de Wootton (Wodeton), knights, Ives de Pilsdon (Pillesdon). Walter de la 

Berne, William Welsh (le Walleys), Gilbert de Anstey (Anestie), Bartholomew de la Mer, Roger de Shaw (la Shawe), Stephen Pain (Payn’).  Geoffrey de 

Mandeville (III) was son of Robert. He succeeded his father c.died in 1269: I.J. Sanders, English Baronies, 64. A marginal note 1231 and states that this 

charter was shown to the council of Queen Elizabeth in the

Michaelmas Term 12 Henry VII (1496) for the discharge of homage, relief and

41 Grant by Richard de Chard (Cerda), clerk, to the a. and c. of Forde of all his right in a croft, together with the houses he has built thereon, in the vill of 

Charmouth (Cernemuth) which he holds of the monks and which John Cetus,called the clerk, held in villeinage before him. Witnesses: William de la 

Berne, Richard Pain (Paganus), Roger de la Yard (Herde) [recte Yerde], William de la Grove, Robert de Hall (Aula).

60  before 1291  Grant in free alms by William de la Berne (Bern), son of Geoffrey de la Berne, to the a. and c. of Forde as 58.  Witnesses : Robert de 

Wootton (Wodeton'), Ralph de Rocheford, knights, William de Clavile, Nicholas Beysin, Robert de Cotley (Cutteheie), RichardPain (Payn), William de 

Catelebruge (Cadelburg). 

(339) WESTBROOK HOUSE (Plate I8), m. S.E. of the church, is of two storeys with stone walls and a

slate-covered roof. According to Hutchins (I, 845) the house was built c. I620 by Sir Thomas Freke; it was partially demolished c. I730 by William Freke 

and considerably rebuilt in the mid I8th century by William Floyer. 

Berne Farm 1769DCMMap , La Berne 1281 Ipm,

1340Ilch , 1376 FF, 

1422Ct , terr '…iuxta l ' Berne 1327 

(15) Poul , Le Bernes 1431 FA, Berne 1462 

Pat et passim , (manerium de ) Barne 1488 Ipm, 

1558Val , Barne alias Berne Hutch3, Bern 1795 

Boswell, cf. also William atte Berne 1280 FF, 

1318HarlCh , William de la Berna 13 (15) Forde , 

William de la Berene 1291 Pat, 

William de la Barne c.1300 (15) Poul , 

William de la Berne 1304AD , 

Geoffrey de la Barne 1327 SR, 

Geoffrey atte Berne 1332 SRet freq to 1364Weld 2, 

Geoffrey de (la ) Berne 1338HarlCh , 1340Ilch , 'the 

barn or storehouse for barley and other grain', 

from bere-ærn, with ME atte 'at the' in the 

surname forms.

Robert, Count of Mortain, rebelled against King William 

Rufus, the younger son of William the Conqueror and 

successor to the English throne, and his 

lands escheated to the crown.[6] These lands 

subsequently were split off to form several 
separate feudal baronies.

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/William_Rufus
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/William_Rufus
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Escheat
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Upcott,_Cheriton_Fitzpaine#cite_note-6
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/English_feudal_barony


Early references to Berne Manor

When Cecily Bonville 7th Baroness Harington was born on 30 June 1460, in 

Shute, Devon, England, her father, William Bonville 6th Lord Harington, was 19 

and her mother, Katherine de Neville, was 18. She married Sir Thomas Grey 1st 

Marquess of Dorset on 18 July 1474, in Groby, Leicestershire, England. They 

were the parents of at least 5 sons and 7 daughters. She died on 22 May 1529, 

in Astley, Warwickshire, England, United Kingdom, at the age of 68, and was 

buried in Astley, Warwickshire, England, United Kingdom.

1576 Grantor: John Spencer, son and heir-apparent of Sir John Spencer, of 

Althorp, Northants, knight, and Mary his wife, daughter and heir of Sir Robert 

Catelyn, knight, late Lord Chief Justice, deceased. Grantee: Paul Pope, of 

London scrivener. Place or Subject: Manors of Berne (Barne, Berne) and 

Morecombelake [both in Whitchurch Canonicorum] and site and capital 

messuage of manor of Marshwood Vale other lands in the same and in [East or 

West] Orchard; all late of Henry [Grey], Duke of Suffolk



Thomas Grey 1st Marquis of 
Dorset

1455 – 1501

(2) Cecily, Lady Harrington born 
in Shute, near Axminster

1460 - 1530

(1) Sir John Grey. Groby, Leicester 
killed in battle of st. Albans 

1431 – 1461 

Elizabeth Woodville married 
(2) King Edward IV

1437 - 1492

William 6th Baron 
Bonville

Chewton, Somerset
1442 - 1483

Elizabeth, Baroness 

Harrington. Married at 

Shute in 1441 

1423 – 1458

The Bonville family ownership of Berne Manor from

Grey 2rd Marquis of Dorset

Died 1530

.

Henry Grey 3rd  Marquis of 
Dorset

Executed in 1554

.

Lady Jane Grey

(Sir Edward Grey 

1415 - 1457

ElizabethFerrier of Groby
1419 – 1483

(1) Anne de 
Holland .

Sir William Harrington. 5th 
Lord Harrington

1394 - 1458

Lady Margaret 
Somerset Hill 

1387 - 1458

(2) Henry Stafford. 
1st Earl of Wiltshire

William 1st  Baron Bonville
Chewton, Somerset

1392 – 1461 

Margaret Grey

1397 – 1427



Lady Cecily, 7th Baroness Harrington and Dorset Bonville was born on 

30 June 1460 in Shute, Devon, her father, William, was 18, and her 

mother, Lady, was 25. She married Thomas Grey in Temple Hirst, 

Yorkshire. They had 19 children in 22 years. She died on 12 April 1530 

in Astley, Warwickshire, at the age of 69, and was buried there.

Sir William De Bonville, 5th Baron of Harington was born on 3 February 

1423 in Shute, Devon, his father, Sir, was 29 and his mother, Lady, was 

29. He married Elizabeth, Baroness Harington, Harrington in 1441 in his 

hometown. They had four children during their marriage. He died on 31 

December 1460 in Wakefield, Yorkshire, at the age of 37.

Thomas Grey was born on 22 June 1455, his father, Sir, was 23 and 

his mother, Elizabeth, was 18. He married Lady Cecily, 7th 

Baroness Harrington and Dorset Bonville in Temple Hirst, Yorkshire. 

They had 19 children in 22 years. He died on 20 September 1501 in 

Astley, Warwickshire, at the age of 46, and was buried there.

William, Sixth Baron of Bonville, Lord Harington was born in 1442 in 

Somerset, his father, Sir, was 19 and his mother, Elizabeth, was 19. He 

married Lady Katharine, Baroness of Harington and Hastings, DeNeville

in Salisbury, Wiltshire. They had two children during their marriage. He 

died on 13 June 1483 at the age of 41.

Sir John Grey of Groby was born in 1432 in Leicestershire, his 

father, Sir, was 17 and his mother, Elizabeth, was 14. He married 

Elizabeth Woodville Queen consort of England and they had two 

children together. He also had five sons and seven daughters from 

another relationship. He died as a young father on 29 March 1464 in 

Towton, Yorkshire, at the age of 32.

Sir Edward Grey was born on 7 February 1415 in Ruthin, 

Denbighshire, his father, Reginald, was 53 and his mother, Lady, 

was 49. He married Elizabeth De Ferrers in March 1427 in 

Leicestershire. He then married Elizabeth De Ferrers and they had 

nine children together. He died on 18 December 1457 in Ratby

Leicestershire, at the age of 42.

Bonville's father and grandfather had both had successful 

careers.[7] As such, when Bonville came of age in 1414[10] he inherited 

an income of approximately £900 per annum; for context, the 

historian Martin Cherry says this was "a figure not far short of that 

enjoyed by the fifteenth-century earls of Devon themselves".[8] His 

lands—comprising 18 manors[10]—were situated all over England, 

although concentrated in Devon, particularly around Shute in the 

south-east of the county, and Somerset.[8] These lands encompassed 

his grandfather's patrimony, with manors in Devon, Somerset, Dorset 

and Wiltshire. The Fitzroger estates were mainly in Leicestershire, 

the East Midlands, and the south-east of England 

in Kent and Sussex.[2] the History of Parliament, "without doubt 

Bonville ranked among the very wealthiest landowners of the West 
Country".[2]

William Bonville and his Family (1442 – 1553)

Sir John Grey of Groby - LifeStory (ancestry.co.uk)

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/William_Bonville,_1st_Baron_Bonville#cite_note-FOOTNOTERoskellClarkRawcliffe1993a-9
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Age_of_majority
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/William_Bonville,_1st_Baron_Bonville#cite_note-FOOTNOTERoskell1954153-12
https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Martin_Cherry&action=edit&redlink=1
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/William_Bonville,_1st_Baron_Bonville#cite_note-FOOTNOTECherry2004-10
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/William_Bonville,_1st_Baron_Bonville#cite_note-FOOTNOTERoskell1954153-12
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/William_Bonville,_1st_Baron_Bonville#cite_note-FOOTNOTECherry2004-10
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wiltshire
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Leicestershire
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/East_Midlands
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Kent
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sussex
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/William_Bonville,_1st_Baron_Bonville#cite_note-FOOTNOTERoskellWoodger1993-2
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/History_of_Parliament
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/William_Bonville,_1st_Baron_Bonville#cite_note-FOOTNOTERoskellWoodger1993-2
https://www.ancestry.co.uk/family-tree/person/tree/56823873/person/232018215136/story


Sir Robert Catlyn (1558 - 1574) was an English judge and Chief Justice of the Queen's Bench.[1]Sir Robert 

Catlyn married Ann, the daughter of John Boles of Wallington, Hertfordshire, and relict of John Burgoyne. By 

her he left an only daughter, Mary, who married first Sir John Spencer, and secondly Sir Robert Fowler. Her 

son by Sir John Spencer was Robert, who was created Baron Spencer of Wormleighton in 1603, from whom 

came the Earls of Sunderland and Dukes of Marlborough.

The Catlin and Spencer family ownership of Berne Manor from 1553 until 1603 

(1) Sir John Spencer
Knighted in 1588. Buried at Great Brington

 married 11th September 1566 in London 
 1546 -1599

Lady Mary Catlin
Sole daughter and Heir ownd Berne in 

1583. buried at Great Brington, 
Northhants. 1555 – 1619

Lady Anne 
Boles

 1508 - 1575

Sir Robert Catlin  of Berne  
 Lord Chief Jusrtice.  He buys Berne Manor in 1559. 

Died at Newenham, Sutton, Beds.  1525 - 1574

Sir John Spencer
Althorp

1517 -1586

Katherine 
Kitson

1524 -  1586

Margaret  Willoughby co heir of 
Francis of Wollaton. 
She had 8 children

Died in 1597

Sir Robert Spencer
1st Baron Spencer of Wormleighton. He buys Berne Manor in 1601 from his mother and her 

third husband (Edward Glascoke). He sells it to Sir George Summers soon afterwards in 1603
1570 - 1627

Ann Risley 
Chauncey

1505 - 

Thomas Catlyn
1489 – 1569

(2) Sir Robert Fowler

(3) Edward Glascoke. He sells Berne 
Manor to Sir Robert Spencer in 1601

Robert Catlyn or Catlin was 

born about 1510. He married 

Anne, daughter of John 

Boles, who lived at 

Wallington in Hertfordshire, 

and widow of Thomas 

Burgoyne, and they had an 

only child, Mary.

He died on 16 Sep 1574 at 

Newnham Priory in 

Bedfordshire and in 

accordance with his wishes 

was buried at Sutton in 

Bedfordshire on 30 Sep 

1574.

He is an ancestor of Prince 

William, the Duke of 

Cambridge.

Sir John Spencer (c. 1551 – 9 January 1599) was an English nobleman, politician, landowner, 
sheriff, knight, and MP from the Spencer family. Spencer married Mary Catlyn, the only 
daughter and heiress of Sir Robert Catlin, who brought him estates in both Leicestershire and 
Northamptonshire as well as Berne Manor in Dorset which her father had built up from profits 
of a successful career. They had one son, Robert, who became the first Baron Spencer of 
Wormleighton.Mary (1555 – 1619) was the sole daughter and heir of Sir Robert Catlyn of 
Berne, Dorset and Lord Chief Justice.  she married Edward Glascoke after 1600.

Sir Robert Catlyn paid £760 for Berne Manor in 1553. He was living there when his 

daughter married Sir John Spencer of Althorp in 1566 in London.  In 1574 he died and 

Berne Manor passes to Sir John Spencer who leases it to Sir George Somers in 1587. In 

1598, his son Sir Robert sell the freehold to Sir George for £600. He keeps the Manorial 

rights which are later bought by the Every family who live near by at Wootton Abbas. 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Robert_Catlyn#cite_note-1
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mary_Catlin
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Member_of_Parliament
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Spencer_family


The Catlin and Spencer family ownership of Berne Manor from 1553 until 1603 



Spring_2013.pdf (upweysociety.org.uk)

Sir George Somers Life at Berne Manor from 1587 until 1610

Festivities at 
Berne Manor on 
23rd May 2009

Some remains of the older Berne House still exist, but the greater part of it was destroyed, 

perhaps by fire and only one wing is now left of the residence of Sir George Somers and of 

the Floyers. In 1592 a Captain John Floyer is mentioned as in command of a ship on one of 

Sir Walter Raleigh's expeditions. He was accused of having captured, contrary to the orders 

of the Privy Council a ship of Bayonne with a load of cod, and a "waistcoat of carnation 

colour, curiously embroidered."32 His precise relationship to the family has not been 

ascertained. An extract from the Diary of Lord Shaftesbury shows that at the time of the Great 

Rebellion, Anthony33 Floyer was a Royalist, for he is mentioned as being on duty at 

Dorchester with Lord Shaftesbury as justice of the peace. In 1685 the Duke of Monmouth 

landed with his army at Lyme Regis, distant only a few miles from Berne. A notice in 

the Gentleman's Magazine for 1767 would seem to refer to some lost tradition of the past 

which Anthony Floyer, as major in the militia,34 played in opposing his advance, but this is 

now only to be conjectured. Many notices of ordinary business transactions as justices of the 

peace and as churchwardens remain in the parish books of Whitechurch Canonicorum, 

Chideock, and elsewhere.

https://www.upweysociety.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/Spring_2013.pdf
https://web.archive.org/web/20170116182345/http:/freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.ancestry.com/~floyer/annals.htm#32
https://web.archive.org/web/20170116182345/http:/freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.ancestry.com/~floyer/annals.htm#33
https://web.archive.org/web/20170116182345/http:/freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.ancestry.com/~floyer/annals.htm#34


Sir George Somers Life at Berne Manor from 1587 until 1610

The 1844 Tithe Map shows a number 
of fields with the same or similar 
names as those mentioned in 1612.
Lower Long Yard, Upper Long Yard, 
Upper Sharkham, Upper Sharkham 
Furze, Lower Sharkham, Sharkham 
Copse, Home Bottom, Home 
Bottom Copse, Treenwoods, Lower 
Berne Woods, Little Berne Woods, 
Great Berne Woods Copse, Upper 
Little Bern Woods, Great Berne 
Woods, Lower Long Yard 

A capital messuage or mansion house and 

farm of the Manor of Berne, co. Dorset, with 

orchards, gardens, a grist mill called 

Tickmill, and closes or parcels of land, 

called respectively Brode menad, Lower 

Walerletts, Higher Waterletts Wood, 

Waterletts Wood, Berne Orchard, Lower 

and Higher Longyeard, Shurcombe Meade, 

Shurcombe, Home Bottom, New Mead, 

Little and Middle Hone Byttom, Higher and 

Lower Twynewood, Berne Wood (3), and 

Longbooes



Sir George Somers ownership of Berne Manor in Dorset from 1612
Also of a capital messuage or  mansion house and 

farm of the Manor of Berne, co. Dorset, with orchards, 

gardens, a grist mill called Tickmill, and closes or 

parcels of land, called respectively Brode-meuad, 

Lower Walerletts, Higher Waterletts Wood, Waterletts

Wood, Berne Orchard, Lower and Higher Longyeard, 

Shurcombe Meade, Sburcombe, Home Byttom, New 

Mead, Little and Middle Hone Byttom,  Higher and 

Lower Twynewood, Brene Wood, and Longboues

held of the King in chief by Knight's service, and worth 

£6 13. 4d. Also of a messuage., mansion house, and 

tenement, lled the Manor of Orchard, in the parish of 

Whitchurch Canonicorum Dorset, with numerous 

parcels of land, of which Great and Liule Bynbills, 

Gasemore, Eastield, Meddiford,Seymonds Lease, 

Bappowle Lees, Bappowle Lees Meadow, 

Shadesbush Meade, Little Bappowles, Fyve

Ashagead, and High Beld, are particularly named, 

together with comijon of patore in Sharedowhc alias 

Sharnendowne, and  Morcomb Lake alias Haddon Hill, 

Also of a capital messuage or tenement in 

Marshwood, Dorset, called Harpers, with closes 

named Brodelay, Harpers Meade. Harpers Moore, 

Gybland, Hynnens, &C., held of John Pawlet, Esq, in 

free socage, of the Manor of Marshwood, paying a 

rent of 6d. for all services, and worth 15s. Also of three 

messuages in Lyme Regis, held by Sir George and 

Johanna, his wife, of the Mayor and Burgesses, 

paying a rent of 2s. for all services and worth 10s. Sir 

George died the 9th of November last. Nicholas 

Somers, Gent., his cousin and heir, aged 26 or more. 

Lady Johanna his wife still living a Whitchurch.



Lyme Regis 24 Apr 1554

Somers was born at Berne Farm in Lyme Regis, Dorset, in the southwest of 

England, in April 1554. He was the third surviving son of John and Alice 

Somer (or Somers). Very little is known about his early life, but by the time 

he was in his mid-thirties, Somers seems to have been engaged in 

privateering missions against Spanish shipping in the West Indies. In 1587 

he used the booty earned on one such mission to purchase more than one 

hundred acres of land near his birthplace; he called it Berne Manor. 

Through the 1590s, his reputation as a competent sea captain grew 

steadily. He was a senior officer in Sir Amyas Preston’s audacious raid on 

the coast of South America in 1595, when English forces captured, sacked, 

and burned San Jago de Leon, a Spanish town on the site of present-day 

Caracas, Venezuela. The raid produced only a limited financial return, but 

was described by one of Preston’s men, Robert Davie, in “The Victorious 

Voyage of Captaine Amias Preston now knight, and Captaine George 

Sommers to the West India, begun in March 1595.” Richard Hakluyt (the 

younger) published the account in an edition of his Principall Navigations, 

Voiages and Discoveries of the English Nation.

In 1597, Somers took part in the Islands Voyage, in which an English fleet 

led by Robert Devereux, second earl of Essex, and Sir Walter 

Raleigh attacked the Portuguese-held Azores. Although the raid was 

unsuccessful, Somers managed to capture a prize while sailing back to 

Dartmouth. Later he was entrusted with the command of some of England’s 

best warships, including the Swiftsure and the Warspite. He captained the 

former in a 1601 attack on a Spanish invasion fleet off Kinsale, in the south 

of Ireland, and the latter in 1602, again at the Azores. According to Thomas 

Fuller in his History of the Worthies of England (1662), Somers “was a lamb 

on land, so patient that few could anger him: and (as if entering a ship he 

assumed a new nature) a lion at sea, so passionate few could please him.”

As Somers’s prestige in naval circles grew, so did his wealth. An inventory 

of his Berne Manor estate after his death included well-constructed beds, 

embroidered Indian coverlets, silk damask cushions, and carpets of all kinds 

and colors, among them a “faire Turkey carpet of greate price.” In July 

1603, just prior to the coronation of James I, Somers was knighted in the 

royal garden at Whitehall. The next year he was elected to Parliament from 

Lyme Regis. And in 1606 he became the town’s mayor.

Probably early in the 1580s, Somers married Joan Heywood, the daughter 

of Philip Heywood, a Lyme Regis farmer. Joan Somers died in 1618 and the 

couple had no children.

Sir George Somers Life at Berne Manor from 1587 until 1610

https://encyclopediavirginia.org/entries/hakluyt-richard-1552-1616/
https://encyclopediavirginia.org/entries/hakluyt-richard-1552-1616/
https://encyclopediavirginia.org/entries/raleigh-sir-walter-ca-1552-1618/
https://encyclopediavirginia.org/entries/raleigh-sir-walter-ca-1552-1618/


Sir George Somers Life at Berne Manor from 1587 until 1610



Somers’s career really took off in 1582 after he married Joan 

Heywood. He was 28. She was just 19 but brought ownership 

of three houses in Lyme into the marriage as her dowry. 

Rental income and his continued commercial success enabled 

the couple to buy Berne Manor, a 200-acre estate near 

Whitchurch Canonicorum, and Orchard House, another 100-

acre farm nearby, for the substantial sum of £600. In 1588, 

Somers coordinated Lyme Regis’s defenses as the enormous 

Spanish Armada approached England’s coast. He sent out 

three ships to join the epic sea battle that raged off the coast 

from his town and watched with relief as the English side 

prevailed.

Searching for Sir George Part 2 - The Bermudian Magazine

Sir George Somers Life at Berne Manor from 1587 until 1610

Upwey. Raynold Keate of Cheselborne, gent, sold to George Somers of 

Berne, gent, and his heirs, all Keate's right and title to the manor of 

Upwey als Waybay howsse with appurtenances formerly the inheritance 

of Hugh Keate, the father of Raynold.

Upwey. Court of Wards and Liveries. Copy of a case 

brought by Sir Walter Pyne, attorney, on behalf of his 

Majesty's ward, Elizabeth Somers, by the petition of 

Richard Roope, esq, and Thomas Rich, gent, (pets.) 

against Thomas Hayne, esq., and Edward Hayne, gent 

(defs.) showing that Mathew Somers, the father of 

Elizabeth, was owner of the manor of Upwey alias 

Wayby house consisting of one messuage, one garden, 

200 acres of land, 23 acres of meadow, 300 acres of 

pasture, 20 acres of wood, 50 acres of furze and heath 

with appurtenances in Upwey. On August 1625, the 

lands descended to Elizabeth, his only child, aged 12yrs 

3mths, by an inquisition held at Sherborne dated 19 Jan 

1626. The rents were due to his Majesty during her 

minority. Mentions a deed dated 17 Jan 1616 whereby 

Mathew and Nicholas Somers leased the property to 

Christopher Mainwaring and others. Mainwaring and 

others granted the property to Richard Henning, 

Thomas Hayne and Robert Napper on 16 Mar 1621 for 

the use of Mathew Somers and his wife, Dorothy. It was 

claimed these deeds were unexecuted and if any were 

signed it was after 'a pot of ale' so his mind was not 

alert. When Mathew died, Thomas Hayne claimed the 

rents. The court decided that Elizabeth was entitled to 

the manor. Hilary Term 1630.

https://www.thebermudian.com/heritage/heritage-heritage/searching-for-sir-george-somers-part-2/


Somers is essentially a Dorset worthy. He was M.P. for Lyme Regis in 1603-4, and 

Mayor of that town in 1605. His heart was buried in the Bermudas, but his nephew 

Matthew Somers brought his body home, and the entry of its burial is clearly recorded 

in the Whitechurch registers. In all pro- bability he was interred below the chantry 

which belonged to his manor house of Bearne or Berne, and is now used as a vestry. A 

great portion of Somers' s abode is still in existence, although the front is modern- ized. 

Besides the Whitechurch property, he left three messuages in Lyme Regis and the 

manor of Upwey, " alias Waybay House." His estate was bequeathed to Matthew 

Somers, although a cousin Nicholas Somers was stated heir-at-law. There are portraits 

of Somers and his wife in existence, painted by Vansomer.

Englishman Admiral Sir George Somers, was born in 1554 in Lyme Regis, Dorset, 

England, in a house on Broad Street. Lyme Regis was an-already historic town in 

Dorset, England. It was also, because of Somers, from where Bermuda's History began.

He was one of the sons, the fourth of five, of John Somers a merchant and farm owner, 

of Berne Farm, situated between the Marshwood Vale village of Whitchurch 

Canonicorum and the main road at Charmouth. Berne Farm was the long-established 

Somers family home. Walter Raleigh, two years George’s senior, was a neighbor and 

boyhood friend. As Lyme Regis was conveniently situated for trade with France and 

Spain, complete with a unique artificial breakwater called The Cobb to shelter local 

shipping, Somers apparently went to sea as a boy in the early 1560s and soon became 

a competent mariner. He seems to have spent his early maritime career trading rather 

than raiding, since his name does not appear in contemporary privateering accounts.

In 1582, Somers’s career prospects improved hugely after his marriage, at the age of 

28,  to Joan Heywood, then just 19. She brought ownership of three houses in Lyme 

Regis into the marriage as her dowry. Rental income and his continued commercial 

success enabled the couple to buy Berne Manor, a 200-acre estate near Whitchurch 

Canonicorum, and Orchard House, another 100-acre farm nearby, for the-then 

substantial sum of £600.

In 1588, Somers coordinated Lyme Regis’s defenses as the enormous Spanish Armada 

approached England’s coast. He sent out three ships to join the epic sea battle that 

raged off the coast from his town and watched with relief as the English side prevailed. 

After 1588, he joined Sir Francis Drake’s unsuccessful invasion of Portugal in 1589 and 

took many prizes while cruising in Azorean waters. He used his share of the £8,000 in 

prize money to purchase Waybay House, a 1,000-acre manor near Weymouth. In 1590, 

after both his father and brother died, Somers became head of the family shipping 

business and the guardian of his two nephews, Nicholas and Matthew.

The Genesis of the United States - Google Books

Sir George Somers Life at Berne Manor from 1587 until 1610

https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/The_Genesis_of_the_United_States/IVtKAAAAYAAJ?hl=en&gbpv=1&dq=waybay+house+upwey+dorset&pg=PA1019&printsec=frontcover


In May that year Somers finally reached Virginia, but then 

returned to the Bermudas to gather supplies. He died there 

in the following November, reportedly ‘of a surfeit in eating 

of a pig’. His body was brought back to England by 

Matthew Somers, his nephew and heir, and buried at 

Whitchurch Canonicorum in July 1611. Under the terms of 

Somers’ will, made on 23 Apr. 1609, his widow received a 

life-interest in the Berne estate, and a jointure of £150 p.a. 

Somers also left £400 in total to three nephews and a 

niece, and £30 to the poor of Whitchurch and Lyme. An 

inventory taken in 1611 shows that the house at Berne was 

comfortably furnished, its contents including a ‘fair Indian 

coverlet embroidered with gold and silk’, and ‘one fair 

Turkey carpet of great price’. Brown, ii. 1019; Som. and 
Dorset N and Q, xi. 97-101.

Somers’s career really took off in 1582 after he married Joan Heywood. He was 28. She 

was just 19 but brought ownership of three houses in Lyme into the marriage as her 

dowry. Rental income and his continued commercial success enabled the couple to buy 

Berne Manor, a 200-acre estate near Whitchurch Canonicorum, and Orchard House, 

another 100-acre farm nearby, for the substantial sum of £600. In 1588, Somers 

coordinated Lyme Regis’s defenses as the enormous Spanish Armada approached 

England’s coast. He sent out three ships to join the epic sea battle that raged off the 

coast from his town and watched with relief as the English side prevailed.

Perhaps it was the threat of this Spanish invasion, or perhaps it was some other 

unrecorded abuse during an earlier sea voyage, that made Somers detest Spain. After 

1588, his maritime career took a decidedly martial turn. He joined Sir Francis Drake’s 

unsuccessful invasion of Portugal in 1589 and took many prizes while cruising in 

Azorean waters. He used his share of the £8,000 in prize money to purchase Waybay

House, a 1,000-acre manor near Weymouth. After both his father and brother died in 

1590, Somers became head of the family shipping business and the guardian of his two 

nephews, Nicholas and Matthew.

Sir George Somers Life at Berne Manor from 1587 until 1610



Admiral Sir George Somers colonized Bermuda for Britain.



Sir George Somers: A Man and His Times : David F. Raine

https://archive.org/details/sirgeorgesomersm0000davi/page/86/mode/2up?q=berne&view=theater


Somers, Sir George will dated 23 April 1609 probate 16 August 1611 (abstract)

Will of Sir George Somers of Berne in the County of Dorset, knight, intending to go to Virginia.

To the poor of the parish of Whitechurch, Dorset, 20 pounds, to be managed by the churchwardens, yearly interest to be divided 

equally among the poor at Christmas.

To the poor of Lyme Regis, Dorset, 10 pounds, to be managed like the legacy just above.

To John Somers and William Somers, sons of his brother John Somers, 100 pounds each, to be paid within two years after 

George Somer's death.

To Tobie Somers, son of the same John Somers, 100 pounds to be paid when he is 21.

To Mary Somers, daughter of John Somers, 100 pounds to be paid at her marriage or when she is 21.

To George Bird his servant 20 pounds, to be paid within two years after George Somer's death.

To Baldwyn Sanford 20 pounds as above.

To his maidservant Judith Seward 5 pounds if she remains his servant till his death.

To Nicholas Somers eldest son of Nicholas Somers deceased, his messuages at the death of Dame Joane, George Somers' 

wife; on condition that Nicholas Somers give his brother Mathew Somers a release of claims to the manor at Whitechurch, 

Marshwood, and Upwey, Co Dorset.

To Nicholas Somers 100 pounds within 2 years of the release mentioned.

If Nicholas Somers refuses to give the release, the messuages etc in Lyme Regis, occupied by Robert Barnes, shall be given to 

Mathew Somers, upon the death of Dame Joane Somers; and Mathew Somers shall also have the 100 pounds within 2 years of 

Nicholas' refusal to give a release.

Appoints his brother John Somers of Lyme Regis as his sole executor, and he shall have the rents of the tenements of Upwey 

for payment of debt and legacies, and like income from specified holdings in Whitchurch and Marshwood. A long and 

complicated section appears to name Mathew Somers as the eventual heir to all the real estate concerned.

Mathew Somers is to have half of the household stuff and plate at Berne House (set down in the inventory annexed to the will), 

and Dame Joane Somers is to have the other half if she gives a release to one John Gould merchant; is she refuses, her half 

goes to George Somers' executor.

All other goods and property to his brother John Somers. Names Richard Hodie, gent., James Heywood, gent, and Baldwyn 

Sanford as overseers of his will, leaves 5 pounds to each.

Signed 23 April 1609. Witnesses Thomas Moleins , Jn Boylden, Henry Corbin.

Probate 16 August 1611 to John Somers, brother of the deceased.

The inventory is on the 4th f. of 71 Wood. It lists goods at Berne House, Dorset as found in each of the several specified rooms. 

Includes furniture, draperies, rugs, bed and table linen, fire irons, pewter, silver, and clothing.

(reference: Virginia Colonial records Project, SR 3273, Principal Probate Registry, Index of Wills, PCC 1605-1619, pg 1-2)



Sir George Somers Will 1611



Ann Martyn (coheir) 
Athelhampton 
married 1591. 

1573 - 1636 

Anthony Floyer.
Moves to Stanton 
St. Gabriel in 1591

 1565 -  1608

William  Floyer 
Lived at  Berne Manor.Buried 
at Whitchurch Canonicorum

1617 – 1681

(1) Margaret Lawrence 
daughter  of Sir Edward 

Laurence, Creech Grange 
Born 1623 Married 1641  

Grace Floyer 
married Rev. 
John Brice in 

1699   1631 - 1700

Eleanore
 Floyer

1630 - 1695

Sarah
 Bulstrode

Married 1657
1635 – 1685

Major Anthony Floyer 
of Berne and Stratton
buried at Whitchurch

1642 – 1701

(2) Sarah Gould
Daughter of John Gould 
of Upwey where she is 
buried     1646 - 1732

Rev. William Floyer
Baptised in Charmouth
Rector of Trusham, Devon

1689 – 1742 

Sarah Burwell
Of London

married 1717
1699-1742  

Margaret Floyer
Baptised in 
Charmouth
1688 - 1767

Sarah Floyer
Baptised in 
Whitchurch
1681 - 1751

(1) Katherine Taylor
 daughter of  Jacob Taylor of at 
Symondsbury . Married 1674

-1676

Captain William Floyer
of Berne Manor 

buried at Whitchurch,
 buried 1711

(2) Grace Cosins 
of Broadwindsor 

married 1700

Elizabeth
married Richard 
Tomes in 1660

-1699

(1)  Mary (Amy) Pole. daughter & 
co. heir of Sir William Pole of 

Shute (1614 – 1649) married 1677.
d.1690

Anthony Floyer
Buried at Upway 

in 1727

(2) Elizabeth 
Mainwaring

Married 1650
1624 - 1666

John Floyer. Berne Manor 
and bought  Upwey  in 1741. 
Recorder of Dorset buried at 
Whitchurch in 1681 - 1756

Ann Richards of 
West Knighton 
married 1741 

Buried there in 1746

William Floyer Rector of West Stafford
 and Vicar of Stinsford

He sells Berne Manor to Richard Knight in 1800
1745 -  1819

Elizabeth 
Barton

Married 1801
 died 1847

William Floyer 
of Reesby, co. Lincs 
and Athelhampton

1723 - 1782

Frances 
Ayscoghe of 
Louth. Lincs
Married 1752 

John Floyer
Killed at siege 

of Lyme in 
1623 - 1644

Hatchment  in Whitchurch Canoncorum Church. Arms of 

Floyer impaling Gould for Anthony Floyer who died in 1701 

John Floyer  buys West Stafford in 1830 from the Goulds. 
He  sells his ¼ share in Athelhampton in 1861.    1811 - 1887

Georgina Bankes, 
1823 - 1903Stafford House, West Stafford. Dorset

Eleanor Pole
Lived at Berne Manor until her husband 
died in 1671 and then buys The Abbots 
House in Charmouth.           1597 -1676 

Anthony Floyer
Moves to Berne Manor in 1616 on his 

marriage.  He sells  Floyers Hayes in 1636 
to Henry Gould.                   1593 – 1671

Hearth Tax Returns for 1664 show Anthony 

Flower having Bearne Manor with 7 hearths.

Returns in 1664 for Wooton Fitzpaine show William Flower, 

son of Anthony  having the Manor House with 10 hearths.

The Flower family ownership of Berne Manor from 1616 until 1803 

Returns in 1664 for Charmouth show George Wade at the 

Abbots House with 5 hearths. Eleanore Floyer buys this in 1673

Front of Berne Manor House in 1904



Wadham, Floyer and Cornish Families -

Probate copy of will of William Floyer, 

Floyer Photo Gallery (rootsweb.com)

floyer1 (stirnet.com)

Annals of the Family of Floyer

Report and Transactions

A Genealogical and Heraldic History

A Genealogical and Heraldic
A Genealogical and Heraldic DictionaryDictionary of National Biography

Notes & Queries for 
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The Social History of the People

The Life, Progresses, and Rebellion 
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Find a Grave Memorial

Visitation of England and Wales

View map: Ordnance Survey, Dorset

https://www.archerfamily.org.uk/family/wadham
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https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/Notes_Queries_for_Somerset_and_Dorset/H74xAQAAIAAJ?hl=en&gbpv=1&dq=floyer+berne&pg=PA120&printsec=frontcover
https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/Notes_Queries_for_Somerset_and_Dorset/H74xAQAAIAAJ?hl=en&gbpv=1&dq=floyer+berne&pg=PA120&printsec=frontcover
https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/The_Social_History_of_the_People_of_the/DAkHAAAAQAAJ?hl=en&gbpv=1&dq=floyer+berne&pg=PA515&printsec=frontcover
https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/The_Life_Progresses_and_Rebellion_of_Jam/OiszAQAAMAAJ?hl=en&gbpv=1&dq=floyer+berne&pg=PA224&printsec=frontcover
https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/The_Life_Progresses_and_Rebellion_of_Jam/OiszAQAAMAAJ?hl=en&gbpv=1&dq=floyer+berne&pg=PA224&printsec=frontcover
https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/149259721/eleanor-floyer?_gl=1*148o70z*_gcl_dc*R0NMLjE3MTU1MDczODcuQ012VDVmXzBqdTRDRlE0WUd3b2R5YXNJeEE.*_gcl_au*OTQwMjgxOTAwLjE3MDk4MzcxMDI.*_ga*MTUxNzk2NTkyMi4xNzA5ODM3MTAz*_ga_4QT8FMEX30*MmI3ZWVkYmYtMDkwOC00MThkLTg4MGQtMjgzNDA1M2RiNmRhLjEyNS4xLjE3MTU1MDg1MTkuNTkuMC4w*_ga_6R6RRSB9ZD*MmI3ZWVkYmYtMDkwOC00MThkLTg4MGQtMjgzNDA1M2RiNmRhLjExMy4xLjE3MTU1MDg1MTkuMC4wLjA.
https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/149259721/eleanor-floyer?_gl=1*148o70z*_gcl_dc*R0NMLjE3MTU1MDczODcuQ012VDVmXzBqdTRDRlE0WUd3b2R5YXNJeEE.*_gcl_au*OTQwMjgxOTAwLjE3MDk4MzcxMDI.*_ga*MTUxNzk2NTkyMi4xNzA5ODM3MTAz*_ga_4QT8FMEX30*MmI3ZWVkYmYtMDkwOC00MThkLTg4MGQtMjgzNDA1M2RiNmRhLjEyNS4xLjE3MTU1MDg1MTkuNTkuMC4w*_ga_6R6RRSB9ZD*MmI3ZWVkYmYtMDkwOC00MThkLTg4MGQtMjgzNDA1M2RiNmRhLjExMy4xLjE3MTU1MDg1MTkuMC4wLjA.
https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/Visitation_of_England_and_Wales_Notes/8L4JB9GzSokC?hl=en&gbpv=1&dq=Floyer+of+%22Berne%22&pg=PA25&printsec=frontcover
https://maps.nls.uk/view/106010529


An Artists impression of Berne Manor as the time Anthony Flower owned it from 1591 until 1608  



John Speed`s Map of West Dorset in 1610 



Isaac Taylor`s Map of West Dorset in 1764 showing Berne Farm and Norchard



William Woodard`s Map of West Dorset in 1769 showing Berne Manor



William Woodard`s Map of West Dorset in 1769 showing Berne Farm



Tithe Map of Berne Manor Farm in 1841.

Berne Manor

Befferlands Farm



Ordnance Survey Map of West Dorset in 1887 showing Berne Farm



1958 Map of Berne Manor Farm in yellow1844 Tithe  Map of Berne Manor Farm

Map of Bullen Estate showing Berne Farm in 1957 in yellow.



1928 O.S. Map

1887 O.S. Map

2024 O.S. Map

1841 Tithe Map

Maps showing Berne Farm



Map of West Dorset in 2024 showing Berne Farm and Norchard



Tithe Map of Stanton St. Gabriel's  in 1841 showing Norchard Farm and Manor

Manor

Norchard
 Farm



Aerial View in 2024 showing Berne Farm



The Manor of Morcombelake surveyed by John Woodward in 1764 for its owner, Lord Milton.

Morcombelake had formed part of the Manor of Berne until it was purchased by the Every family, who later sold it to Lord Milton



Hutchins History of Dorset (1863 Edition) The history ofMorcombelake and Stanton St. Gabriel



Lvme Regis, known as Littlehill, Morcombelake, together 

with grounds of about 10 acres, and the Lordship of 

the Manor of Morcombelake and Berne (the purchaser 

being introduced by Messrs. A. Paul & Son). The 
auctioneers also report the following private treaty ...
Published: Friday 30 April 1937

the LORDSHIP of the MANOR BERNE and MORCOMBELAKE, 

with the Lord's Rents issuing out of Plots on Hardown Hill, and 

GRAVEL ROYALTIES. MESSRS. HENRY DUKE ...
Published: Friday 24 October 1913

The Lordship of the Manor of Berne & Morcombelake



1926 jul 23 somerset thunder

FARM DESTROYED. Several 

houses were struck, but the 

only, property destroyed 

was Berne Manor Farm, four 

miles from Lyme Regis. The 

farmhouse was discovered 

alight about four o'clock, the 

thatched roof presumably 

having been fired by lightning, 
the storm ...

Berne Manor Farm destroyed when hit by Thunder on 22rd July 1926

https://www.newspapers.com/article/western-gazette-1926-jul-23-somerset-thu/109828544/


The Legg Family 

An Article that appeared 
in the Summer issue of 
Shoreline in 2017 by 
Bernard Legg which refers 
to his family at Berne 
Manor Farm. 





. At Sotrebroc, or Floyer's Hayes, the Floyer family lived continuously until about 1580.

The position and influence of the family was increased at this period by alliances with the Carews, the Martins of Athelhampton, through 

whom the connection with Nicholas Wadham, the founder of Wadham College, was established, and with the Poles of Colcombe.

Soon after these events, and possibly in consequence of them, the family removed from the estate which they had occupied for some five 

hundred years, and went to live at Stanton S. Gabriel, near Charmouth. The last burial entry in the register of S. Thomas', Exeter is that of 

William Floyer, in 1579, a few days later than the marriage of his eldest daughter there.23

The house of Floyer's Hayes passed by purchase to the Goulds, and subsequently to Thomas Templar, who is said to have partly destroyed 

it and divided the property.Anthony Floyer, in whose lifetime the migration was made, inherited through his wife a fourth part of the large 

estates of the Martins at Athelhampton, in Dorsetshire, and elsewhere. He seems never to have lived at Athelhampton, for the estate was so 

exactly divided that only a fourth part of the house fell to his share.

There are a few remains of the manor house at Stanton S. Gabriel embodied in a farmhouse which still exists near the sea. Anthony's 

widow lived at Llanteilo Portholley, in Monmouthshire,27 a property inherited or acquired by the family about this time; but her son Anthony, 

between 1616 and 1626, purchased the estate of Berne, in the same parish, and distant only a few miles from Stanton S. Gabriel. Berne 

House is described by Coker, writing 1622-35, as "late the house of Sir George Somers." Sir George, in fact, lived there at some period of 

his life, and possessed it at his death in 1610.28 He was the discoverer of the Bermudas, and on his death at Somers Island, his body was 

brought home and buried at Whitechurch Canonicorum, the parish in which Berne is situated.29 Anthony Floyer the younger attained his 

majority in 1625 or 1626, and either on that occasion or on his marriage took up his residence at Berne, which became the seat of his 

descendants for about eighty years, though his grandson Anthony lived for a time at Stratton, in Dorsetshire. Anthony Floyer, of Berne, sold 

Floyer’s Hayes to Henry Gould, of Lew Trenchard. Portions of the estate, however, remained in the family, and were finally disposed of 

towards the end of the 18th century.

Some remains of the older Berne House still exist, but the greater part of it was destroyed, perhaps by fire and only one wing is now left of 

the residence of Sir George Somers and of the Floyers. In 1592 a Captain John Floyer is mentioned as in command of a ship on one of Sir 

Walter Raleigh's expeditions. He was accused of having captured, contrary to the orders of the Privy Council a ship of Bayonne with a load 

of cod, and a "waistcoat of carnation colour, curiously embroidered."32 His precise relationship to the family has not been ascertained. An 

extract from the Diary of Lord Shaftesbury shows that at the time of the Great Rebellion, Anthony33 Floyer was a Royalist, for he is 

mentioned as being on duty at Dorchester with Lord Shaftesbury as justice of the peace. In 1685 the Duke of Monmouth landed with his 

army at Lyme Regis, distant only a few miles from Berne. A notice in the Gentleman's Magazine for 1767 would seem to refer to some lost 

tradition of the past which Anthony Floyer, as major in the militia,34 played in opposing his advance, but this is now only to be conjectured. 

Many notices of ordinary business transactions as justices of the peace and as churchwardens remain in the parish books of Whitechurch 

Canonicorum, Chideock, and elsewhere.

Berne House passed to the Stafford House line,and Anthony Floyer, the representative of the elder family, soon after 1700, and possibly on 

his father's death, moved with his mother to a house in S. Peter's, Dorchester. He died young and unmarried, and the property passed to his 

brother William, Rector of Trusham, through whom at his matriculation in 1708 the connection with the founder of Wadham College was first 

registered, a connection which gave advantages to many of his descendants.

A History of the Floyer Family

http://www.athelhampton.co.uk/1st-PAGE.htm
http://www.wadham.ox.ac.uk/
https://freepages.rootsweb.com/~floyer/genealogy/annals.htm#23
https://freepages.rootsweb.com/~floyer/genealogy/annals.htm#27
https://freepages.rootsweb.com/~floyer/genealogy/annals.htm#28
https://freepages.rootsweb.com/~floyer/genealogy/annals.htm#29
https://freepages.rootsweb.com/~floyer/genealogy/annals.htm#32
https://freepages.rootsweb.com/~floyer/genealogy/annals.htm#33
https://freepages.rootsweb.com/~floyer/genealogy/annals.htm#34


Ann Martyn (coheir) 
Athelhampton 
married 1591. 

1573 - 1636 

Anthony Floyer.
Moves to Stanton 
St. Gabriel in 1591

 1565 -  1608

Sir William Pole
of Shute Manor  & 
Charmouth Manor 

1561 – 1635 

Mary 
Periam

1567 – 1605

William  Floyer 
Lived at  Berne Manor.Buried 
at Whitchurch Canonicorum

1617 – 1681

(1) Margaret Lawrence 
daughter  of Sir Edward 

Laurence, Creech Grange 
Born 1623 Married 1641  

Grace Floyer 
married Rev. 
John Brice in 

1699   1631 - 1700

Eleanore
 Floyer

1630 - 1695

Sarah
 Bulstrode

Married 1657
1635 – 1685

Major Anthony Floyer 
of Berne and Stratton
buried at Whitchurch

1642 – 1701

(2) Sarah Gould
Daughter of John Gould 
of Upwey where she is 
buried     1646 - 1732

Rev. William Floyer
Baptised in Charmouth
Rector of Trusham, Devon

1689 – 1742 

Sarah Burwell
Of London

married 1717
1699-1742  

Margaret Floyer
Baptised in 
Charmouth
1688 - 1767

Sarah Floyer
Baptised in 
Whitchurch
1681 - 1751

(1) Katherine Taylor
 daughter of  Jacob Taylor of at 
Symondsbury . Married 1674

-1676

Captain William Floyer
of Berne Manor 

buried at Whitchurch,
 buried 1711

(2) Grace Cosins 
of Broadwindsor 

married 1700

Elizabeth
married Richard 
Tomes in 1660

-1699

(1)  Mary (Amy) Pole. daughter & 
co. heir of Sir William Pole of 

Shute (1614 – 1649) married 1677.
d.1690

Anthony Floyer
Buried at Upway 

in 1727

(2) Elizabeth 
Mainwaring

Married 1650
1624 - 1666

John Floyer. Berne Manor 
and bought  Upwey  in 1741. 
Recorder of Dorset buried at 
Whitchurch in 1681 - 1756

Ann Richards of 
West Knighton 
married 1741 

Buried there in 1746

William Floyer Rector of West Stafford
 and Vicar of Stinsford

He sells Berne Manor to Richard Knight in 1800
1745 -  1819

Elizabeth 
Barton

Married 1801
 died 1847

William Floyer 
of Reesby, co. Lincs 
and Athelhampton

1723 - 1782

Frances 
Ayscoghe of 
Louth. Lincs
Married 1752 

John Floyer
Killed at siege 

of Lyme in 
1623 - 1644

Margaret 
Wadham

1540 – 1611

Sir Nicholas Martyn 
Athelhampton Manor. 

Left his Estate to his 4 daughters 
1530 – 1596 

Elizabeth 
Martyn
(coheir)

Francis
Martin
(coheir)

Jane 
Martyn
(coheir)

Nicholas Wadham
Co Founder of 

Wadham College
1532 - 1609

Dorothy Petre
Co Founder of 

Wadham College
1534 -  1618

Sir William Petre
Buys the Manor of Charmouth in 1564

Secretary of State to 4 Monarchs
1505 - 1575

Gertrude Tyrell
 died 1541

(2) Ann Browne
(1508 – 1580)

Sir John Petre
Sells the Manor of 
Charmouth in 1575

1549 -  1613

John Wadham of Merryfield
 held the Manor of 
Catherston in 1558

 buried at Whitchurch in 1584

Joan 
Tregarthan , 

widow of John 
Kellaway

Plaque in Whitchurch to Elizabeth 
Floyer who died in 1666 aged 42

Hatchment  in Whitchurch Canoncorum Church. Arms of 

Floyer impaling Gould for Anthony Floyer who died in 1701 

John Floyer  buys West Stafford in 1830 from the Goulds. 
He  sells his ¼ share in Athelhampton in 1861.    1811 - 1887

Georgina Bankes, 
1823 - 1903Stafford House, West Stafford. Dorset

Berne Manor, nr. CharmouthThe Abbots House. Charmouth

Eleanor Pole
Lived at Berne Manor until her husband 
died in 1671 and then buys The Abbots 
House in Charmouth.           1597 -1676 

Anthony Floyer
Moves to Berne Manor in 1616 on his 

marriage.  He sells  Floyers Hayes in 1636 
to Henry Gould.                   1593 – 1671

Stanton St. Gabriel Manor

Athelhampton Manor

Shute Manor

Catherston Manor



Berne
 Manor

Abbots
 House

Stanton St.
 Gabriel

Catherston
Manor

Charmouth 

The inter family links of the 
Martyn, Wadham, Petre, 
Pole and Floyer families 
with the village of
Charmouth



Report and Transactions of the Devonshire Association Volume 30 1898 – Flower Family 

https://books.googleusercontent.com/books/content?req=AKW5Qac8FVgG0ZVy8HuWVubtiDYlR0kcAZABROQ8DDCL1LS01ABAOm8z5TnYockPCHWJW8EB9WYMIk8LCDo4MYvBxO-zPy59YhmiK_0EpQKCVKxKjadqJ2OX4NuAdaTlyhvEM3yhrOtO9GHGkXu49k1cym1bFVeOWzeS5XKpSMh57zBISZe-VxejC_vRO3JNjxzFwEFowg-U1cYdrhDrNwSHuAAQmAbk9qfUj3MAsQ4y4-aIucx68vxXeo-C_5qBjl-7dW4Kdf1JxzfYpL1v5P_nBZTimUE2aQ


floyer1 (stirnet.com)

Annals of the Family of Floyer 
(rootsweb.com)

Floyer Photo Gallery (rootsweb.com)

William Floyer of Berne House, Dorset (1617 - 1680) William married his second cousin, Margaret 
Lawrence; by her, he is ancestor of the Floyers of Horncastle, Northampton and New South Wales. By his 
second wife, Elizabeth Mainwaring, he is ancestor of the Floyers of West Stafford

Wadham, Floyer and Cornish Families - 
The Archers, the Goodmans and 
Associated Families (archerfamily.org.uk)

https://www.stirnet.com/genie/data/british/ff/floyer1.php
https://freepages.rootsweb.com/~floyer/genealogy/annals.htm
https://freepages.rootsweb.com/~floyer/genealogy/annals.htm
https://freepages.rootsweb.com/~floyer/genealogy/photos.htm
https://www.archerfamily.org.uk/family/wadham
https://www.archerfamily.org.uk/family/wadham
https://www.archerfamily.org.uk/family/wadham
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1793 1799 1802 1812

1823 1830 1831 1798

Land Tax showing owners and tenants for Berne Manor Farm and other Properties 



Land Tax showing owners and tenants for Berne Manor Farm and other Properties 



The Pedigree of the Floyer family



The Pedigree of the Floyer family continued



The Hearth Tax Return for Wootton in 1662 listed fifty names. The highest number of fireplaces was ten in the name of 

William Floyer. That year a Richard Rose had three hearths but in the return for 1677 a Richard Rose had twelve 

hearths, this second Richard could have been another relative as the Richard Rose who built the first Manor House 

died before this date. 

The 1662 Hearth Tax returns for Berne Manor

The 1662 Hearth Tax Returns for Catherston show Anthony Floyer at Berne Manor 
with 7 chimneys. Hi son, William then living at Wootton Fitzpaine has 10 hearths. 



1643 John Floyer Gent buried at Whitchurch  

In 1689 at the Lyme Regis Election of the 29 votes for 

Sir Wm. Drake, five were foreign Freemen who were 

Francis Alford, William Bragge, John Fry, 
Antony Floyer ...

Marriage in Lyme Regis of Mr. John Brice and Grace 
Floyer of Charmouth in 20th November 1699

1686 Anthony Floyer Esq

1694 wife of Captain William Floyer
Floyer
Captain. References to his command of Trained Band Company, 
31 Aug.-2 Sept. 1643. Not a captain pre-war, 5.503. Possibly of 
family of Floyer of Floyers.

References: Hayes, Vis. Dorset, 1677, 23-4.

Stafford House, Dorset was the home of a branch of the 
Floyers until the death without issue of George William 
Floyer in 1927. The estate passed to the Acland family 
on condition that they assume the name Floyer-Acland. 
The house has since been sold.

The Floyer Family – owners of Berne Manor from 1616 until 1800



Floyer family records in Charmouth

Eleanore`s Will Abt 1676

John Floyer 17 Oct 1696 Stratton 

Margaret Floyer Charmouth 1688

William Floyer Charmouth 1689

The Life, Progresses, and Rebellion of James



The Floyer family ownership of Berne Manor in Dorset from 1620 until 1800

The Protestation was an attempt to avert the 

English Civil War. In July 1641, Parliament passed 

a bill requiring those over the age of 18 to sign the 

Protestation, an oath of allegiance to King CharlesI 

and the Church of EnglandI I was drawn up on 3 

May of that year. No one could hold a Church or 

state office without signing. Top of the list is 

Anthony Floyer. Esquire and his son John Floyer, 

Gentleman, who was to die soon after in 1643 at 

the Siege of Lyme Regis. 



Rev. William Floyer, Rector of Stinsford, 
Dorset, 1745 - 1819. 

William Floyer of Berne House, 
Dorset (1617 - 1680)

Portraits of members of the Floyer family.





The Floyer family and their links with the Rev. John Brice



The Floyer Family – owners of Berne Manor from 1616 until 1800



Annals of the Family of Floyer

Dorset and Upwey. Hilary Term 1693: George Gould, gent, and 

Simon Beale, gent, vs James Gould, gent, for a moiety of 9 

messuages, 18 gardens, 160 acres of land, 80 acres of meadow, 

400 acres of pasture, 100 acres of furze and heath with 

appurtenances in Upway, Wayby house, Whitechurch 

Canonicorum and in their respective parishes; Michaelmas Term 

1694: Thomas Cooper vs George Arnold, gent, for one messuage, 

one garden, 40 acres of land, 10 acres of meadow, 340 acres of 

pasture, 50 acres of furze and heath, common of pasture and 

common of turbary with appurtenances and, also, a moiety of the 

manor of Bearne otherwise Barne with appurtenances, and, also, 

10 messuages, a water corn mill, 250 acres of land, 120 acres of 

meadow, 450 acres of pasture, 200 acres of furze and heath and 

15 acres of wood with appurtenances in Holworth, Milton Abbas, 

Upway, Broadway, Tottingway, Wayby , Wayby House, Bearne 

or Barne and White Church Canonicorum, 1693-1694

Stafford House – home of the Floyer family from 1830 

https://freepages.rootsweb.com/~floyer/genealogy/annals.htm


Stafford House – home of the Floyer family from 1830 



Auction of Abbotts Wootton including the Manor of Berne and Morcombelake in 1807



ancestry.co.uk/discoveryui-
content/view/124837:5111?_phcmd=u(%27https://www.ancestry.co.uk/search
/categories/36/?name=richard_knight&death=1830&count=50&keyword=erne&
types=r&successSource=Search&queryId=208bd254-31d3-4f29-ba37-
831998bb9d07%27,%27successSource%27)

Richard Knight`s Ownership of  the Manor of Berne from 1799 until 1830

Catherston Land Tax for 1811 showing William Drewe as 

the major Land Owner and Richard Knight second. 

Richard Knight has a brother, Floyer Bulstrode Knight, 
which must be relation of Flower family.

17981800

1832

https://www.ancestry.co.uk/discoveryui-content/view/124837:5111?_phcmd=u(%27https://www.ancestry.co.uk/search/categories/36/?name=richard_knight&death=1830&count=50&keyword=erne&types=r&successSource=Search&queryId=208bd254-31d3-4f29-ba37-831998bb9d07%27,%27successSource%27)
https://www.ancestry.co.uk/discoveryui-content/view/124837:5111?_phcmd=u(%27https://www.ancestry.co.uk/search/categories/36/?name=richard_knight&death=1830&count=50&keyword=erne&types=r&successSource=Search&queryId=208bd254-31d3-4f29-ba37-831998bb9d07%27,%27successSource%27)
https://www.ancestry.co.uk/discoveryui-content/view/124837:5111?_phcmd=u(%27https://www.ancestry.co.uk/search/categories/36/?name=richard_knight&death=1830&count=50&keyword=erne&types=r&successSource=Search&queryId=208bd254-31d3-4f29-ba37-831998bb9d07%27,%27successSource%27)
https://www.ancestry.co.uk/discoveryui-content/view/124837:5111?_phcmd=u(%27https://www.ancestry.co.uk/search/categories/36/?name=richard_knight&death=1830&count=50&keyword=erne&types=r&successSource=Search&queryId=208bd254-31d3-4f29-ba37-831998bb9d07%27,%27successSource%27)
https://www.ancestry.co.uk/discoveryui-content/view/124837:5111?_phcmd=u(%27https://www.ancestry.co.uk/search/categories/36/?name=richard_knight&death=1830&count=50&keyword=erne&types=r&successSource=Search&queryId=208bd254-31d3-4f29-ba37-831998bb9d07%27,%27successSource%27)


Richard Knight`s Ownership of  the Manor of Berne from 1800 until 1830

September 2nd 1830

Some remains of the older Berne House still exist, 

but the greater part of it was destroyed, perhaps by 

fire and only one wing is now left of the residence of 

Sir George Somers and of the Floyers. 



Thomas Turner is renting Berne 
Manor Farm from Mrs. Marianne 
Edwards in 1844

Tithe Maps  showing fields and acreage of Berne Manor and Norchard Farms in 1844 

Thomas Turner is renting 

Norchard Manor Farm from 

Mrs. Marianne Edwards in 1844



Sacred to the memory of 
John Morse, Esq.
Late of Abbotts Wootton, in the
County of Dorset, and of
Kessingland in the County of Suffolk,
and formerly of Sprowston Hall
and Bagthorpe in this county;
in 1807 he was High Sheriff
of the County of Norfolk,
and for many years a Deputy Lieutenant
and Magistrate of the same county.
He departed this life
at Ingonville near Havre in France
on the 28th. day of February A.D. 1844,
in the 68th. year of his age.
His mortal remains lie interred
in a vault at the East end of this church.
This monument is erected to his memory
by his only son and daughter.

John Morse`s Ownership of  the title of Lord of the Manor of Berne from 1809 until 1844



Marriane Elizabeth Edwards ownership of Berne Manor in Dorset from 1831 – 1882?

Memory of/The Revd. THOMAS HODGES, 

M.A/of Trinity College Cambridge,/Sometime 

Curate in charge of this Parish of 

Charmouth;/who died April 18th 1847 aged 

64 years/Also of MARIA, his wife,/who died 

May 27th 1871,aged 77 years/This tablet was 

erected by the only surviving 

child/MARIANNE, widow of THOMAS BENNET 

EDWARDS,/late Vicar of St. Stephen's by 

Saltash, Cornwall/in grateful memory of most 

kind and loving parents/Requiescant in Pace/ 

+Jenkins, Torquay. 

Thomas Hodges and his wife Maria
Thomas Hodges was curate in charge of Charmouth when 
Audain, the Rector, went to the West Indies until October 1826. 
He and his family lived in a house opposite the Church.
Thomas died on 18th April 1847, aged 64 and Maria, his wife on 
27th May 1871 aged 77.
Their son Joseph died when he was 9 1/2 and a tablet to his 
memory is on the south wall of the Sanctuary.



Joseph Turner – Tenant of Berne Manor Farm Will of 1853

1831 Berne farm was purchased of the executors of Richard Knight,esq, by the 

rev. Thomas hodges of Charmouth, who afterwards settled it together with another 

Esate in Stanton st Gabriel's called Norchard on his only surviving daughter , 

Elizabeth on her marriage with the late Rev. Thomas Bennett Edwards, vicar do 

St. Stephens of Saltaah,  Cornwall



35; Barne Cottage; Thomas LANGDON ; Head; Mar; 37; Cartear; 

Devon, Honiton

; ; Rebecca LANGDON ; Wife; Mar; 37; Work on the Farm; Devon, 

Honiton;; ; Job LANGDON ; Son; ; 14; Work on the Farm; Stanton 

St.Gabriels;; ; George LANGDON ; Son; ; 5; ; Stanton St.Gabriels36; 

Barne Cottage; Edward BRIDEL ; Head; Un; 53; Farm labour; 

Whitechurch; 37; Barne Farm; Thomas TURNER ; Head; Mar; 26; 

Farmer 208 acres

; ; Harout TURNER ; Wife; Mar; 21; ; Whitechurch;; ; Ann CASE ; 

Servant; Un; 18; Servant; Somerset, Winsham; ; Gauis POWELL ; 

Servant; Un; 17; Servant; Whitechurch; 

1861 Census

1851 Census

1881 Census

1911 Census with 12 rooms

1931

Tenants of Berne Manor Farm



Release of commonable rights on Hardown [Haddon] 

Hill, Morecombelake, between Esau Tucker of 

Whitchurch Canonicorum, smith, and Thomas Moor 

Horsford of Weymouth, barrister at law and Lord of the 

Manor of Berne and Morecombelake. 21 Nov 1854

1939 Census. Berne Farm Henry White born in 1866, a Widow. Dairy Farmer. 

Four Martyn Daughters inherited equal shares of Athelhampton, which passed to 
their husbands, the elder married Henry Brune, another to Chideock  Tichborne and 
the youngest married Anthony Floyer through marriage the Brunes acquired two 
more shares. Much of the Floyer family lineage died out with the last share passing 
between distantly related cousins. In 1661, heiress Mary Brune married Sir Ralph 
Bankes from Corfe Castle, and a few years later the three shares of the house were 
sold to Sir Robert Long. In 1683 his Grandson James Long a gambler avoided losing 
Athelhampton to some creditors by hiding out in the house. His son, James Long 
esq inherited Athelhampton in 1710. The Estate was occupied by Tenant Farmers, and 
was the heart of a thriving community with their families farming some 12,000 
acres  The House was passed down through further generations, not often visited and 
falling into disrepair until it was inherited by William Pole-Tylney-Long-Wellesley in 
1825. In 1848 following years of disagreement with his father over family 
debt Long sold the house to George Wood, with the Floyer share being purchased, re-
uniting the house.



Friday 26 February 1909



A Photograph taken in 1904 of the back of the former Berne Manor House



A Photograph taken in 1904 of the back of the former Berne Manor House

1887 O.S. Map

2024 O.S. Map

Front
 entrance

Side 
elevation 



A Photograph taken in 1904 of the former front of  Berne Manor House



A Photograph taken in 1904 of the former rear of  Berne Manor House



A Photograph taken in 1910 of the former front of  Berne Manor House



A Photograph taken in 1959 of  Berne Manor House and farm buildings



A Photograph taken in 1990 of  Berne Manor House



A Photograph taken in 1947 of Norchard Farm in Stanton St. Gabriel's.



1886 2024

A comparison of Berne Manor House in 1886  in red with the house and outbuildings today in orange.



Rear of Berne Manor House in 1904

A comparison of the front and rear of Berne Manor House in 1904

Front

Front

Front of Berne Manor House in 1904

Steps



1886 2024

A comparison of Berne Manor House in 1886  in red with the house and outbuildings today in orange.



19281901

A comparison of Berne Manor House in 1901 and 1928 after being struck by lightening in 1926 







2024

A comparison of Berne Manor House in 1886  in red with the house and outbuildings today in orange.





END



The church at Whitchurch Canonicorum
from The Church of England Magazine, 1858



and in 1086 by 
William (de Estre ) 
(VCHDo 387); the 
identification of this 
manor with 
Knighton is 
suggested by the 
fact that 2½ hides 
in Knicteton ' were 
held by 
Richard de Estre in 
1212 Fees (87) 
(Eyton 131–2, 
VCHDo 360).

With regard to the Bicknell family origins, 
Bicknoller manor was held in 1086 by William 
de Estre under Robert, count of Mortain. From 
William the manor descended to his son 
Jordan and then grandson Richard de Estre
(Som. Rec. Soc. viii, pp.168-9). From them was 
clearly descended a further William de Estre, 
whose daughter and heiress Joan had married 
Robert de Paveley by 1243





Notes & Queries for 
Somerset and Dorset - 
Google Books

R A D LEGG
Livestock Farming, Mixed Farming
Berne Manor Farm, Charmouth, Bridport, Dorset, DT6 6RD (Show me directions)Show Map
01297 560372...Landline

Legg, Ambrose B. J. – Age 74, passed away August 28, 2022, due to complications 
from melanoma cancer. He was surrounded by family and friends. 
Ambrose is predeceased by his father, Alex; mother, Ruth (Brooks); sister, Janet; and 
sister-in-law, Rose. 
He is survived by wife, Maureen, Elmsvale; daughter, Claudia, Dartmouth; sons, Glenn-
Arron (Alanna), Elmsvale and Tristan, Elmsvale; family friend, Lindsay, Labelle, QC; 
siblings, Richard, Dorset, UK; Bernard (Jackie), Inglisville; Naomi (Malcolm), Brook 
Village; nieces, nephews, and grandchildren. 
Ambrose was born and raised in Whitchurch Canonicorum, Dorset, England. He 
continued the family farming tradition, first working alongside his father and brothers 
at Berne Manor Farm and then with his wife and children at Little Dorset Farms. 

RICHARD ANTHONY LEGG, aged 22, of Berne Manor Farm, Charmouth. Admitted driving a vehicle on the A35 at 
Chideock at a speed exceeding 30mph. Fined £220 and to pay costs of £85. Driving record endorsed with 4 
penalty points. 11 Jan 2020

There are several wall monuments, including a white marble tablet 
at the W end of the N aisle, to Anna Floyer, 1774, and a fine baroque 
tablet at the E end of the same, to Sarah Floyer, 1733.

21 Jun 1769; Edward Augustus son of 
Augustus & Ann FLOYER

16 Jun 1772; Anna daughter of Augustus 
& Ann FLOYER; private

b. c.1645, 1st s. of John Beare of Bearscombe by Elizabeth, da. and 
h. of Matthew Somers of Upwey, Dorset.

Sir Nicholas Martyn  took the decision to
Athelhampton, equally on the four daughters, rather
distant male relatives, as sometimes happened when
Martyn Sisters were now highly desirable heiresses
began to be married. Elizabeth, the eldest, married
around 1570; Frances, the third, married Tom
second, married Chidiock Tichborne, probably
the youngest Martyn sister, Anne, married in
from a Catholic family that had been based in
his mid-60s, and in 1596 he died. The estate passed
Lady Margaret lived on for 15 more years.

As the Tudor era drew to a close, with Queen
ownership of the house was divided four ways;
the three older sisters were gradually amalgamated
and then sold as one unit, while the share of Anne,
her descendent’s hands for a quarter of a millennium,
Partly reflecting this split ownership, the house

https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/Notes_Queries_for_Somerset_and_Dorset/y70xAQAAIAAJ?hl=en&gbpv=1
https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/Notes_Queries_for_Somerset_and_Dorset/y70xAQAAIAAJ?hl=en&gbpv=1
https://www.google.co.uk/books/edition/Notes_Queries_for_Somerset_and_Dorset/y70xAQAAIAAJ?hl=en&gbpv=1
https://findit.lancasterguardian.co.uk/search/bridport/livestock-farming
https://findit.lancasterguardian.co.uk/search/bridport/mixed-farming
https://share.here.com/r/mylocation/50.7430351,-2.8795058,R+A+D+Legg%20DT6+6RD?ref=webcom_growth_u8xz2p_9mmb1j
https://findit.lancasterguardian.co.uk/company/438341263142913#bdp-map
https://www.bridportnews.co.uk/search/?search=Charmouth&topic_id=3044






Plaque in Whitchurch to Elizabeth 
Floyer who died in 1666 aged 42

Berne Manor, nr. Charmouth

Top of the Protestation list  of 1642 is Anthony 

Floyer, Esquire and his son John Floyer, 

Gentleman, who was to die soon after in 1643 at 

the Siege of Lyme Regis. 

Hearth Tax Returns for 1664 show Martha Every 

having Wootton Abbots Manor with 7 hearth.



The present par. name is a combination of two originally distinct names, probably for adjacent estates. Catherston is 'estate of a family 
called Charteray ', v. tūn , cf. Robert Charteray 13 (15) Forde (a witness in a Charmouth deed), Robert Chartrei 1327 SR (a taxpayer in Loders), 
and, for the same family, cf. Chart Knolle in Stoke A. par. supra : the surname probably originates from the French p.n. Carteret (La 
Manche), v. Tengvik 81–2. Leweston is 'estate of a family called Lester (de Lestre )', v. tūn , cf. Richard del Estre 1204 (1313) Ch (held in 
Charmouth infra ) and William de Estra (for Lestra ) named c.1086 GeldR in an entry recording that the king had never had tax from one hide 
held by him from the Count of Mortain: this holding is identified with Cerneli (Catherston Leweston) by Eyton 141–2 and by ThornDB, note to 
26, 64.This surname is also from a French p.n., Lestre (La Manche), v. Tengvik 94–5.
The references to villa que dicitur Cernia and ten ' de Cern (e )ia associated with Ace de Lestre or del Estre n.d. (15) Forde (ff. 32–3) probably also 
belong here (Cern (e )ia is from R. Cerne (Char) with Brit -i suffix commonly found in r.ns., v. RN lxxvii). For the identification of the DB 
form Cerneli (likewise 'estate on R. Char, earlier Cerne '), v. Eyton 141–2, VCHDo 3 88, ThornDB 26, 64; this R. Cerne (forming the SE bdy of the 
par.) gives name to Charmouth par. infra (earlier Cearn (æl )) and is identical in origin with the R. Cerne which gives name to Cerne A. 
par. supra q. v. for discussion of the suffixed form Cerneli , v. also RNs. infra . There was a mill at Cerneli in 1086 DB.

Catherston Leweston :: Survey of English Place-Names (nottingham.ac.uk)

Berne Fm :: Survey of English Place-Names (nottingham.ac.uk)

Berne Fm (SY 388944), Berne Farm 1769DCMMap , La Berne 1281 Ipm, 1340Ilch , 1376 FF, 
1422Ct , terr '…iuxta l ' Berne 1327 (15) Poul , Le Bernes 1431 FA, Berne 1462 Pat et passim , (manerium de ) Barne 1488 
Ipm, 1558Val , Barne alias Berne Hutch3, Bern 1795 Boswell, cf. also William atte Berne 1280 FF, 1318HarlCh , 
William de la Berna 13 (15) Forde , William de la Berene 1291 Pat, William de la Barne c.1300 (15) Poul , 
William de la Berne 1304AD , Geoffrey de la Barne 1327 SR, Geoffrey atte Berne 1332 SRet freq to 1364Weld 2, 
Geoffrey de (la ) Berne 1338HarlCh , 1340Ilch , 'the barn or storehouse for barley and other grain', from bere-ærn, with 
ME atte 'at the' in the surname forms.

Stanton St Gabriel :: Survey of English Place-Names (nottingham.ac.uk)

'Stone farmstead', that is either 'stone-built farmstead' or 'farmstead on stony ground', v. stān , tūn . The current 
affix is from the dedication of the church here, v. St Gabriel's Church (in ruins) infra . The 13th-cent. 
form Stanton Oydrock , confirmed as belonging here by Drew, is almost certainly a misreading for Stanton Cydiock , a 
reference to Chideock which borders Stanton on the E (both places having been anciently within Whitchurch C. par.). 
The 14th-cent. affix Pyk ' is manorial, cf. Thomas Pike , lord of the manor in 1464 Hutch3 2265. The tithing of Stanton 
is Gabriells Tithing 1664 HTax, cf. also Gabrielleslane in Chideock par. supra .

https://epns.nottingham.ac.uk/browse/Dorset/Catherston+Leweston/532852f9b47fc4099d002af4-Catherston+Leweston
https://epns.nottingham.ac.uk/browse/Dorset/Whitchurch+Canonicorum/53285299b47fc4099d0025f5-Berne+Fm
https://epns.nottingham.ac.uk/browse/Dorset/Stanton+St+Gabriel/532852f9b47fc4099d002b95-Stanton+St+Gabriel


Hearth Tax Returns for Whitchurch Canonicorum and surrounding Villages in 1664



England & Wales, Prerogative Court of Canterbury 
Wills, 1384-1858 - Ancestry.co.uk

Sarah MEDICAL: totally deaf for 60 years

Her father was major in the area where the Duke of 

Monmouth landed. She had been totally deaf for 60 

years; her friends conversed with her by their fingers. 

Ancestry.com reference from Gentleman's 
Magazine, Feb 1767

Margaret Lawrence : Family tree by Patrick 
BARNWELL (barnwellofmileham) - Geneanet

Wadham, Floyer and Cornish Families - The 
Archers, the Goodmans and Associated Families 
(archerfamily.org.uk)

Ancestry.co.uk - England & Wales, Prerogative 
Court of Canterbury Wills, 1384-1858

Four Martyn Daughters inherited equal shares of 
Athelhampton, which passed to their husbands, 
the elder married Henry Brune, another to 
Chideock  Tichborne and the youngest married 
Anthony Floyer through marriage the Brunes 
acquired two more shares. Much of the Floyer 
family lineage died out with the last share 
passing between distantly related cousins. In 
1661, heiress Mary Brune married Sir Ralph 
Bankes from Corfe Castle, and a few years later 
the three shares of the house were sold to Sir 
Robert Long. In 1683 his Grandson James Long a 
gambler avoided losing Athelhampton to some 
creditors by hiding out in the house. His 
son, James Long esq inherited Athelhampton in 
1710. The Estate was occupied by Tenant 
Farmers, and was the heart of a thriving 
community with their families farming some 
12,000 acres  The House was passed down 
through further generations, not often visited 
and falling into disrepair until it was inherited 
by William Pole-Tylney-Long-Wellesley in 1825. In 
1848 following years of disagreement with his 
father over family debt Long sold the house 
to George Wood, with the Floyer share being 
purchased, re-uniting the house.

https://www.ancestry.co.uk/discoveryui-content/view/317238:5111
https://www.ancestry.co.uk/discoveryui-content/view/317238:5111
https://gw.geneanet.org/barnwellofmileham?lang=en&pz=kerry+leigh+anne&nz=barnwell&p=margaret&n=lawrence
https://gw.geneanet.org/barnwellofmileham?lang=en&pz=kerry+leigh+anne&nz=barnwell&p=margaret&n=lawrence
https://www.archerfamily.org.uk/family/wadham#:~:text=Rev%20WILLIAM%20FLOYER%2C%20M.A.%2C%20Rector,Oct%201717%20at%20Ottery%20St.
https://www.archerfamily.org.uk/family/wadham#:~:text=Rev%20WILLIAM%20FLOYER%2C%20M.A.%2C%20Rector,Oct%201717%20at%20Ottery%20St.
https://www.archerfamily.org.uk/family/wadham#:~:text=Rev%20WILLIAM%20FLOYER%2C%20M.A.%2C%20Rector,Oct%201717%20at%20Ottery%20St.
https://www.ancestry.co.uk/imageviewer/collections/5111/images/40611_310641-00550?pId=775711
https://www.ancestry.co.uk/imageviewer/collections/5111/images/40611_310641-00550?pId=775711
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